
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GSP COMMISSION MEETING 

November 13, 2023 



AGENDA 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting 

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Commission Boardroom 
Monday, November 13, 2023 

9:00 a.m. 

*NOTE TO ALL PUBLIC ATTENDEES:

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located outside 
the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the Recording 
Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed prior to the 
Airport Commission’s discussion, and you will have 5 minutes to address the Airport 
Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

I. CALL TO ORDER:

II. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport September 11, 2023 Regular
Meeting Minutes (document)

B. Acceptance of the Greenville-Spartanburg Audit Committee November 2, 2023
Audit Committee Meeting Minutes (document)

III. PRESENTATIONS: None

III. OLD BUSINESS: None

IV. NEW BUSINESS:

A. Approval of Rental Car Customer Facility Charge (CFC) Increase (document)

B. Approval of a Budget Amendment for Purchase of 1.5 Acres and 15,712 SF

industrial/flex building located at 2125 Airport Rd. (document)

C. Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for Federal Express Corporation
(document)

D. Approval of Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services
(document)

V. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:

A. Aviation Industry Update
B. Federal and State Legislative Update
C. Financial Dashboard Update
D. 2023 Best in Business Award - Best Regional Airport in SC



GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION AGENDA 
Monday, November 13, 2023 
Page 2 

VII. INFORMATION SECTION:

(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to address
any questions the Commission may have.)

A. September 2023 – Traffic Report (document)
B. September 2023 – Financial Report (document)
C. October 2023 – Development/Project Status Report (document)
D. October 2023 – Communications Status Report & Marketing Event Summary

(document)
E. October 2023 – Commercial Business Report (document)
F. October 2023 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document)
G. October 2023 – Information Technology Status Report (document)

VIII. COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

The Airport Commission may hold an Executive Session for the purpose of
receiving legal advice on various matters.

X. ADJOURNMENT

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a matter 
of convenience to the public. It is not the official agenda. Although every effort is made 
to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The Airport Commission 
does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for any purpose. The 
agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission meeting. 











2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Members of the Airport Commission            

Thomas Brooks, VP, Chief Financial Officer      

November 13, 2023 

____________________________________________________________ 

CONSENT AGENDA – Item B 

Acceptance of the Greenville-Spartanburg Audit Committee November 1, 2023 Meeting 
Minutes 

BACKGROUND 

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District’s Audit Committee met on Wednesday, 
November 1 at 1:00pm. 

The minutes will be drafted and sent to the members of the Airport Commission, to be 
accepted at the November 13th Commission meeting. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM:  

DATE: 

Members of the Airport Commission 

Deven Judd, VP, Chief Commercial Officer

November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – New Business Item A 

Approval of Rental Car Customer Facility Charge (CFC) Increase 

BACKGROUND 

The Customer Facility Charge (CFC) is a rental car transaction fee (per day) that is used 
to pay unimproved land rentals, capital project expenses, O&M and CAM expenses 
related to rental car operations. 

Due to the escalated projection of construction costs for the new Garage C/Rental Car 
Facility, the proposed increase to the rental car Customer Facility Charge (CFC) is 
necessary to cover both the Land/O&M costs as well as the debt service of the new 
Garage C/Rental Car Facility. 

ISSUES 

The Airport District has examined the construction of the new Garage/Rental Car 
Facility and the below represents the cost allocation: 

• Rental Car Facility/CONRAC $76,400,000 (67% of total) 
• Public Parking $37,600,000 (33% of total) 

The current CFC fee of $6.00 per day is not sufficient to adequately cover the 
associated costs of the new Garage C/Rental Car Facility.  

ALTERNATIVES 

No alternatives recommended at this time.



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 
www.gspaiport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Approval of Rental Car Customer Facility Charge Increase 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The new Parking Garage C with rental car facility option, is projected to cost 
$114,000,000 to construct. However, as noted above, this cost is split between public 
parking and the rental car facility. The rental car facility portion is CFC eligible and 
would be covered by CFC funds.    

To help defray the costs associated with the rental car facility portion of the project, a 
CFC increase from the current $6.00 per day to $9.00 per day is proposed. This will 
produce an additional $2,392,407 in annual revenue. 

See enclosed Exhibit A – Projected CFC Revenues at $9.00 per Day. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission (1) approve the 
recommendation to increase the CFC to $9.00 per day, and (2) authorize the 
President/CEO to execute all required documents. 

Attached is EXHIBIT A – Projected CFC Revenues at $9.00 per Day. 



2
0
0
0
 G

S
P
 D

ri
v
e
, 
S
u
it
e
 1

 ●
 G

re
e
r,

 S
C
  

2
9
6
5
1
 ●

 G
re

e
n
v
ill

e
: 

8
6
4
.8

7
7
.7

4
2
6
 ●

 S
p
a
rt

a
n
b
u
rg

: 
 8

6
4
.4

3
9
.4

4
7
6
 ●

 F
a
x:

  
8
6
4
.8

4
8
.6

2
2
5
 

w
w

w
.g

sp
a
ip

o
rt

.c
o
m

 

G
re

e
n
v
ill

e
-S

p
a
rt

a
n
b
u
rg

 A
ir
p
o
rt

 C
o
m

m
is

si
o
n
 

N
e
w

 B
u
si

n
e
ss

 I
te

m
 A

 
A
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
o
f 

R
e
n
ta

l 
C
a
r 

C
u
st

o
m

e
r 

F
a
ci

lit
y
 C

h
a
rg

e
 I

n
cr

e
a
se

 
P
a
g
e
 3

 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Members of the Airport Commission 

Deven Judd, VP, Chief Commercial Officer 

November 13, 2023 

_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item B 

Approval of a Budget Amendment for Purchase of 1.5 Acres and 15,712 SF 
industrial/flex building located at 2125 Airport Rd. 

BACKGROUND 

In September 2023, the Commission approved the purchase of 1.5 acres and a 15,712 
SF industrial/flex building located at 2125 Airport Rd., Greer, SC. After negotiations, the 
owner has agreed to a purchase price of $1,950,000, which is the appraised value of 
the property.   

ISSUES 

While the property located at 2125 Airport Rd. was identified in the Airport Master Plan 
as future property to be acquired, the purchase price of the property was not included 
in the FY2024 Capital Budget as the property became available for purchase after the 
annual budgeting process was complete.  

ALTERNATIVES 

No alternatives recommended at this time. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The capital improvement plan budget will be amended by $1,950,000.00 for the 
purchase of 2125 Airport Rd resulting in a total FY24 capital improvement budget of 
$78,671,500.00, an increase of 2.5%. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Approval of a Budget Amendment for Purchase of 2125 Airport Road 
Page 2 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to approve the budget 
amendment in the amount of $1,950,000.00 for the purchase of 2125 Airport Rd. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM:  

DATE: 

Members of the Airport Commission 

Deven Judd, VP, Chief Commercial Officer  

November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – New Business Item C 

Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement and Budget Amendment for Federal Express Corp. 
(FedEx) Lease  

BACKGROUND 

FedEx currently leases 104,307 square foot office and warehouse facility on 10.65 acres 
of land at the GSP North Cargo Facility. This property is located directly adjacent to the 
runway north of the terminal.   See attached reference map and proposed facility layout 
drawing. 

ISSUES 

Staff has negotiated lease renewal terms with FedEx.  A summary of the primary 
business terms of the agreement are as follows: 

1. Base Term – Ten (10) years.
2. Option Terms – Two Five (5) year options at FedEx’s discretion.
3. Lease Premises – Approximately 104,307 SF office and warehouse and

10.65 acres of Aircraft Apron and paved parking/storage area.
4. Annual Rent – $1,910,652.98 in base rent annually for the Lease

Premises. Employee Parking and Common Areas will have an annual rental
of $114,715.40 for a total annual rental of $2,025,368.38. Rents shall be
adjusted annually by the lesser of 3.6% or CPI.

5. District Improvements – $2,001,250.00 in various building
improvements/renovations.

6. Lessee Improvements – None.
7. Maintenance – Lessee shall be responsible for maintenance of the

Premises.



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 
www.gspaiport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item  
Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for Federal Express Lease 
Page 2 

8. Utilities – Lessee is responsible for the cost of all utilities and usage
charges on the Premises.

9. Insurance – Lessee will be required to provide hazard insurance, liability
insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, and employer’s liability
insurance.

10. Taxes and Assessments – Lessee is responsible.
11. Subleasing – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to sublet

the lease, which shall not unreasonably be withheld.
12. Assignment – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to assign

the lease, which shall not unreasonably be withheld.

Budget Amendment: The office and warehouse space currently leased by Federal 
Express is over 20 years old. After an inspection of the premises, Staff developed a 
scope of work to address necessary improvements that include replacing flooring, 
renovating the main restroom, new ceiling tiles, gutters for the canopy, improving the 
lighting throughout the premises and paving & striping truck and customer lots.  This 
work is estimated to cost $2,001,250. The cost of renovations was not included in the 
FY2024 Capital Budget as the negotiations have recently concluded. 

ALTERNATIVES 

No alternatives recommended at this time.

FISCAL IMPACT 

Staff has negotiated a first-year annual lease amount of $2,025,368.38. FedEx is 
responsible for all other expenses associated with this building as this is a “triple net 
lease”. Each subsequent year, throughout the term of the agreement, the annual lease 
rate escalates by the lesser of 3.6% or CPI. 

The capital improvement plan budget will be amended by $2,001,250 to complete the 
improvements to the premises resulting in a total FY24 capital improvement budget of 
$80,672,750.00, an increase of 2.5%. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission (1) approve the lease 
terms/agreement as outlined above, (2) approve the budget amendment in the amount 
of $2,001,250 for the improvements to the premises and (3) authorize the 
President/CEO to execute a lease agreement with Federal Express Corporation. 



2
0
0
0
 G

S
P
 D

riv
e
, S

u
ite

 1
 ●

 G
re

e
r, S

C
  2

9
6
5
1
 ●

 G
re

e
n
v
ille

: 8
6
4
.8

7
7
.7

4
2
6
 ●

 S
p
a
rta

n
b
u
rg

:  8
6
4
.4

3
9
.4

4
7
6
 ●

 F
a
x:  8

6
4
.8

4
8
.6

2
2
5
 

w
w

w
.g

sp
a
ip

o
rt.co

m
 

G
re

e
n
v
ille

-S
p
a
rta

n
b
u
rg

 A
irp

o
rt C

o
m

m
issio

n
 

N
e
w

 B
u
sin

e
ss Ite

m
  

A
p
p
ro

v
a
l o

f L
e
a
se

 T
e
rm

s/A
g
re

e
m

e
n
t fo

r F
e
d
e
ra

l E
x
p
re

ss L
e
a
se

 
P
a
g
e
 3

 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Kevin Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item D 

Approval of Final Rankings for On-Call Architectural/Engineering (AE) Professional 
Consulting Services and On-Call Planning/Environmental (PE) Professional Consulting 
Services. 

BACKGROUND 

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District last selected On-Call AE and PE professional 
service consultants in 2018. The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) strongly 
recommends airports conduct regular solicitations for general consulting services every 
5 years. 

Staff prepared a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for On-Call AE Professional Consulting 
Services and an RFQ for On-Call PE Professional Consulting Services. The RFQ’s were 
advertised per policy. Ten (10) Submittals of Qualifications (SOQs) were received for 
On-Call AE Professional Consulting Services and two (2) SOQ’s for On-Call PE 
Professional Consulting Services, on the September 19, 2023 due date.  Three (3) AE 
firms are being selected to perform work to support the District for the new five (5) 
year term. 

Architectural/engineering firms/teams submitting SOQs were (Prime firms listed below 
alphabetically): 

ADC Engineering 
AVCON, Inc. 
C Design / exp 
Goodwyn, Mills and Cawood (GMC), Inc. 
HDR 
Holt Consulting Company 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services 
Page 2 

Kimley-Horn 
LS3P 
Parrish & Partners 
WK Dickson & Co., Inc. 

Planning/environmental firms/teams submitting SOQs were (Prime firms listed below 
alphabetically): 

Ardurra Group, Inc. 
McFarland Johnson, Inc. 

The Selection Committee reviewed the AE SOQs and evaluated them in accordance with 
the evaluation criteria as outlined in the RFQ. Five (5) AE firms/teams were short-listed 
for the second phase of the selection process, which included presentations and 
interviews with the Selection Committee. 

Short-listed architectural/engineering firms/teams (Prime firms listed below 
alphabetically): 

AVCON, Inc. 
HDR 
Holt Consulting Company 
Kimley-Horn 
Parrish & Partners 

Presentations and interviews were held with the short-listed firms/teams the week of 
October 23, 2023.  The evaluation of presentations/interviews for the shortlisted 
firms/teams was based on the following categories: team/firm and key personnel 
experience, project management approach, team organizational structure, experience 
with the District and overall staffing plan. Also, as part of the presentation, each team 
was asked to describe their project approach to a specific GSP project and address any 
issues or challenges anticipated with their “project” and discuss how their team would 
ensure a successful project for the Airport District. At the conclusion of each 
presentation, the Committee conducted a question and answer session with each team 
on several project management and general consultancy issues to learn more about 
their firm/team and assist the Committee in determining the final rankings. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services 
Page 3 

ISSUES 

In accordance with administrative policy, Staff conducted the RFQ solicitation process 
and is making a recommendation of final rankings to the Commission. The Commission 
has final approval of the rankings.  

The Selection Committee’s recommended final ranking for On-Call 
architectural/engineering professional services is:  

1. Kimley-Horn
2. Parrish & Partners
3. AVCON, Inc.

The Selection Committee reviewed the PE SOQs and evaluated them in accordance with 
the evaluation criteria as outlined in the RFQ including past/current project experience, 
resumes of key personnel, project planning approach, ability to meet project goals, 
firm/team organizational structure, responsiveness to RFQ requirements and experience 
with GSP Airport District.  

The Selection Panel unanimously selected McFarland Johnson, Inc. as the highest 
ranked firm/team and determined an interview/presentation was not necessary.   

The unanimous determination was driven by McFarland Johnson’s exceptional team, 
experience in planning/environmental support of like-sized airports, individuals who 
have deep knowledge of the aviation industry from a planning/environmental 
perspective and demonstrated ability to deliver services within project parameters.  
Additionally, McFarland Johnson has supported the District in planning/environmental 
needs over the past five (5) years in which they have performed admirably. 

Upon approval of the final rankings, Staff will attempt to negotiate an agreement with 
the three (3) highest ranked architectural/engineering firm/teams and McFarland 
Johnson, Inc.  In the event an agreement cannot be reached with the highest ranked 
firms/teams, Staff will formally terminate the negotiations and proceed to negotiate 
with the next highest ranked firms/teams. 

There are projects underway with firms chosen in the 2018 selection process who were 
not selected in the current procurement process.  Contract extensions will be executed 
allowing the consultant to complete on-going work for the specific projects.   



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services 
Page 4 

ALTERNATIVES 

No alternatives are recommended at this time. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Approval of the final ranking itself does not have a direct fiscal impact. Once the On-Call 
AE Professional Consulting Firms and On-Call PE Professional Consulting Firms are 
under contract, the selected On-Calls will be providing professional services for future 
capital projects and consulting services as needed. All project expenses will be 
budgeted and funded from the appropriate capital project/ program or applicable 
budget line item. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the final 
rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services as presented above; (2) authorize 
Staff to negotiate and finalize agreements with the three (3) highest ranked 
architectural/engineering firms/teams and highest ranked planning/environmental 
firm/team (if an acceptable agreement cannot be reached with the highest ranked 
firms/teams, negotiations will be formally terminated and will then proceed with the 
next ranked firm/team); and (3) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary 
documents. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item A 

September 2023 - Traffic Report 

SUMMARY 

For September 2023, passenger traffic was up 18.9% and load factors were down 3.6% 
at an average of 85.6% over September 2022. Below is a comparison of our passenger 
traffic numbers for CY2023 versus CY2022: 

 29.0%  8.9%

 11.5%  11.7%

 14.5%  17.0%
 20.8%

 22.2%  19.0%

 17.0%

 -

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

GSP Enplanements
CY23 Compared to CY22

CY22 CY23 % Change

(Estimated)



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item A 
September 2023 - Traffic Report 
Page 2 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com

Below is a comparison of our actual passenger traffic numbers to the budget for 
FY2024:

Cargo traffic experienced an increase of 6.4% for September 2023 versus September 
2022. Our fuel volumes experienced an increase of 7.0% for September 2023 versus 
September 2022. 

A comparison of the North America Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 2023 to GSP’s 
Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 

118,393 

114,606 
113,169 

120,877 

 70,000

 80,000

 90,000

 100,000

 110,000

 120,000

 130,000

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Enplanement Performance to Budget Targets by Month
Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Budget Actual

(Estimated)

Month GSP

National 

Average Difference

Jan 27.60% 33.39% -5.79%

Feb 10.10% 22.19% -12.09%

Mar 11.70% 12.96% -1.26%

April 11.70% 16.39% -4.69%

May 14.00% 9.86% 4.14%

June 17.90% 9.90% 8.00%

July 20.70% 10.40% 10.30%

August 21.70% No Data to Date

September 18.90% No Data to Date

October

November

December

Average 17.14% 11.64% 5.51%

2023



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item A 
September 2023 - Traffic Report 
Page 3 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com

Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for September 2023. 

Providing a look forward into service levels for December 2023 is a schedule compari-
son for the month versus the same month last year, including flights and seats by airline 
and non-stop markets served. Currently, in the schedules, GSP flights are up at 20.2%, 
and seats are up significantly at 18.8%. 

Attachments 

Schedule Monthly Summary Report for  Passenger (Air - All) flights from GSP for travel December 2023 vs. December 2022

 All flights, seats, and ASMs given are per month.

Mkt Al Dest Flights Seats Flights Seats Flights Seats Flights Seats

3M MCO 13 611 9 423 4 188 44.4% 44.4%

3M TPA 18 846 9 423 9 423 100.0% 100.0%

AA CLT 230 17,633 181 17,500 49 133 27.1% 0.8%

AA DCA 82 5,814 84 6,054 (2) (240) (2.4%) (4.0%)

AA DFW 89 13,730 60 10,320 29 3,410 48.3% 33.0%

AA LGA 45 3,420 0 0 45 3,420

AA MIA 31 2,356 32 2,432 (1) (76) (3.1%) (3.1%)

AA ORD 31 2,257 30 1,864 1 393 3.3% 21.1%

AA PHL 66 4,288 31 2,356 35 1,932 112.9% 82.0%

DL ATL 176 24,793 178 23,620 (2) 1,173 (1.1%) 5.0%

DL DTW 23 2,286 26 1,976 (3) 310 (11.5%) 15.7%

DL LGA 90 6,582 68 4,982 22 1,600 32.4% 32.1%

G4 FLL 11 1,947 11 1,947 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

G4 PIE 9 1,524 11 1,896 (2) (372) (18.2%) (19.6%)

G4 SFB 9 1,575 9 1,488 0 87 0.0% 5.8%

LF BNA 0 0 9 270 (9) (270) (100.0%) (100.0%)

UA DEN 31 2,236 31 2,356 0 (120) 0.0% (5.1%)

UA EWR 72 5,962 60 4,458 12 1,504 20.0% 33.7%

UA IAH 31 3,954 31 2,330 0 1,624 0.0% 69.7%

UA ORD 81 5,320 90 5,566 (9) (246) (10.0%) (4.4%)

WN ATL 90 14,470 62 9,858 28 4,612 45.2% 46.8%

WN BWI 33 5,071 31 5,265 2 (194) 6.5% (3.7%)

WN HOU 2 286 5 875 (3) (589) (60.0%) (67.3%)

XP HVN 9 1,701 0 0 9 1,701

TOTAL 1,272 128,662 1,058 108,259 214 20,403 20.2% 18.8%

Travel Period Dec 2023 Dec 2022 Diff Percent Diff



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	1	of	12

Monthly	Traffic	Report
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
September	2023

Category Sep	2023 Sep	2022
Percentage
Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022

Percentage
Change

*MOV12-
2023

*MOV12-
2022

Percentage
Change

Passenger	Traffic
	Enplaned 113,088 95,101 18.9% 945,595 808,068 17.0% 1,238,296 1,100,967 12.5%

								Deplaned 110,851 93,307 18.8% 934,680 799,595 16.9% 1,222,200 1,088,483 12.3%
Total 223,939 188,408 18.9% 1,880,275 1,607,663 17.0% 2,460,496 2,189,450 12.4%

Cargo	Traffic	(Pounds)
	Express	and	Mail
	Enplaned 680,173 778,509 -12.6% 6,316,913 7,010,714 -9.9% 8,516,772 9,348,503 -8.9%
	Deplaned 952,980 1,204,900 -20.9% 8,800,100 9,662,850 -8.9% 12,139,904 13,026,258 -6.8%
	Subtotal 1,633,153 1,983,409 -17.7% 15,117,013 16,673,564 -9.3% 20,656,676 22,374,761 -7.7%

	Freight
	Enplaned 3,563,643 2,820,275 26.4% 32,103,740 38,490,863 -16.6% 40,853,406 52,126,395 -21.6%
	Deplaned 8,369,335 7,943,321 5.4% 68,224,782 80,257,232 -15.0% 94,329,482 112,577,014 -16.2%
	Subtotal 11,932,978 10,763,596 10.9% 100,328,522 118,748,095 -15.5% 135,182,888 164,703,409 -17.9%

Total 13,566,131 12,747,005 6.4% 115,445,535 135,421,659 -14.8% 155,839,564 187,078,170 -16.7%

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	2	of	12

Category Sep	2023 Sep	2022
Percentage
Change

*CYTD-
2023

*CYTD-
2022

Percentage
Change

*MOV12-
2023

*MOV12-
2022

Percentage
Change

Aircraft	Operations
	Airlines 2,381 2,302 3.4% 21,831 20,821 4.9% 28,460 28,265 0.7%
	Commuter/Air	Taxi 568 534 6.4% 4,348 5,531 -21.4% 6,224 7,775 -19.9%
	Subtotal 2,949 2,836 4.0% 26,179 26,352 -0.7% 34,684 36,040 -3.8%

	General	Av. 1,192 1,156 3.1% 11,317 10,475 8.0% 14,638 13,580 7.8%
	Military 280 236 18.6% 2,250 1,876 19.9% 2,928 2,534 15.5%
	Subtotal 1,472 1,392 5.7% 13,567 12,351 9.8% 17,566 16,114 9.0%

Total 4,421 4,228 4.6% 39,746 38,703 2.7% 52,250 52,154 0.2%

Fuel	Gallons
	General	Aviation
	100LL 2,776 2,587 7.3% 24,925 22,027 13.2% 31,676 29,361 7.9%
	Jet	A 169,072 163,237 3.6% 1,402,606 1,438,466 -2.5% 1,925,174 1,887,770 2.0%
	Subtotal 171,848 165,824 3.6% 1,427,531 1,460,493 -2.3% 1,956,850 1,917,131 2.1%

	Commercial	Aviation
	Jet	A 1,828,867 1,703,688 7.3% 16,303,152 16,274,503 0.2% 21,775,018 21,724,576 0.2%

Total 2,000,715 1,869,512 7.0% 17,730,683 17,734,996 -0.0% 23,731,868 23,641,707 0.4%

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	3	of	12

Scheduled	Airline	Enplanements,	Seats,	and	Load	Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
September	2023

Sep	2023 Sep	2022
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022
Percentage

Change

Allegiant	Air
Enplanements 2,278 2,408 -5.4% 32,106 30,844 4.1%
Seats 2,868 2,865 0.1% 38,100 36,576 4.2%
Load	Factor 79.4% 84.0% -5.5% 84.3% 84.3% -0.1%

American	Airlines
Enplanements 39,414 32,580 21.0% 338,913 279,454 21.3%
Seats 46,861 37,059 26.4% 429,025 336,892 27.3%
Load	Factor 84.1% 87.9% -4.3% 79.0% 83.0% -4.8%

Avelo
Enplanements 2,444 0 - 10,880 0 -
Seats 3,066 0 - 14,574 0 -
Load	Factor 79.7% - - 74.7% - -

Delta	Air	Lines
Enplanements 35,010 31,642 10.6% 298,771 278,611 7.2%
Seats 37,809 34,737 8.8% 334,738 327,186 2.3%
Load	Factor 92.6% 91.1% 1.7% 89.3% 85.2% 4.8%



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	4	of	12

Silver	Airways
Enplanements 992 594 67.0% 7,982 4,682 70.5%
Seats 1,266 828 52.9% 10,096 6,040 67.2%
Load	Factor 78.4% 71.7% 9.2% 79.1% 77.5% 2.0%

Southwest	Airlines
Enplanements 12,339 11,816 4.4% 101,343 92,296 9.8%
Seats 16,348 14,547 12.4% 147,811 146,122 1.2%
Load	Factor 75.5% 81.2% -7.1% 68.6% 63.2% 8.5%

United	Airlines
Enplanements 20,096 14,925 34.6% 151,454 115,462 31.2%
Seats 23,217 15,774 47.2% 179,326 134,762 33.1%
Load	Factor 86.6% 94.6% -8.5% 84.5% 85.7% -1.4%

Sep	2023 Sep	2022
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022
Percentage

Change

Totals
Enplanements 112,573 93,965 19.8% 941,449 801,349 17.5%
Seats 131,435 105,810 24.2% 1,153,670 987,578 16.8%



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	5	of	12

Load	Factor 85.6% 88.8% -3.6% 81.6% 81.1% 0.6%

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.

Totals
Enplanements 112,573 93,965 19.8% 941,449 801,349 17.5%
Seats 131,435 105,810 24.2% 1,153,670 987,578 16.8%

Load	Factor 85.6% 88.8% -3.6% 81.6% 81.1% 0.6%

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	6	of	12

Monthly	Enplanements	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	September	2023



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	7	of	12

Monthly	Seats	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	September	2023



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	8	of	12

Monthly	Load	Factors	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	September	2023



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	9	of	12

Total	Monthly	Passengers	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	September	2023



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	10	of	12

Scheduled	Airline	Market	Shares	(Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	September	2023	Through	September	2023



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	11	of	12

Airline	Flight	Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
September	2023

Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations	Due	To Total

Cancellations
Completed
Flights	(%)Field Mechanical Weather Other

Air	Atlanta	Icelandic 13 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Air	Belgium 9 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
AirNet	II 2 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Allegiant	Air 17 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Allegiant	Charter 4 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Alpine	Air	Express 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
American	Airlines 530 6 8 0 0 14 98.1%
Ameriflight 2 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Amerijet	Intl 25 0 0 0 0 0 52.0%
Ameristar	Jet	Charter 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Avelo 18 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Berry	Aviation 36 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Delta	Air	Lines 319 1 0 7 0 8 97.8%
Everts	Air	Cargo 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Federal	Express 38 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
IFL	Group 10 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
InterJet	West 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Kalitta	Charters	II 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Lynden	Air	Cargo 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Maersk	Air	Cargo 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
MAS	Air 20 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%



Monday,	October	16,	2023 Page	12	of	12

Mountain	Air	Car 16 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
PAK	West	Airlines/Sierra
West 2 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%

Royal	Air	Freight 6 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
Silver	Airways 27 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Southwest	Airlines 100 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Sun	Country	Airlines 8 0 0 0 0 0 50.0%
United	Airlines 225 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
UPS 33 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%

Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations	Due	To Total

Cancellations
Completed
Flights	(%)Field Mechanical Weather Other

Total 1,473 7 8 7 0 22 94.8%



_      ____________________________________________________________ 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Thomas Brooks, VP, Chief Financial Officer 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
_      ____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item B 

September 2023 – Monthly Financial Report 

SUMMARY 

Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for September 2023. 

Operating Income was up by 10.8% when compared to the budget for September 2023. 
Operating Expenses were down by 9.2% when compared to the budgeted amount for 
the same period. Net operating income was up by 88.3% when compared to the 
September 2023 budget. For the period ending September 2023, which represents three 
(3) months of the fiscal year, a total of $5,987,171 has been returned to the bottom
line in operating income.

Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents three 
months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 



September 30, 2023 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PACKAGE



Current FY Prior FY
9/30/2023 9/30/2022

Assets
Cash Accounts 30,244,149 46,185,913
Investments-Airport 59,827,153 36,710,334 (aa)

Accounts Receivable 9,653,810 9,877,000
    Less: Reserve for Doubtful Accounts (149,500) (149,500)
Net Accounts Receivable 9,504,310 9,727,500

Leases Receivable 34,658,779 38,541,080 (bb)

Inventory 324,573 806,030
Prepaid Insurance 972,285 873,590

Notes Receivable-RAC District Funds 0 176,829

Lease Assets 1,606,198 1,606,198
    Less: Accumulated Amortization (616,388) (308,194)
Net Lease Assets 989,810 1,298,004 (bb)

Property, Plant & Equipment (PP&E) 559,871,727 519,973,274 (cc)
 Less: Accumulated Depreciation (215,772,179) (199,601,663)

Net PP&E 344,099,548 320,371,611
TOTAL ASSETS 480,620,607 454,690,892

PLUS: Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Pension, OPEB & Leases 6,379,431 5,100,004

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 6,379,431 5,100,004

LESS: Liabilities
Accounts Payable 15,772,787 9,014,851 (dd)
TD Bank Long Term Debt 29,750,000 31,500,000
SCRS Pension Liability 23,778,825 18,915,466
Benefit Liability 4,289,364 4,091,497
Lease Liabilities 1,009,173 1,320,977 (bb)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 74,600,149 64,842,790

LESS: Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Revenues 34,647,333 42,267,331

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 34,647,333 42,267,331

NET POSITION
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 314,330,185 288,848,638

Restricted
 Contract Facility Charge 5,958,235 14,716,054

     Passenger Facility Charges 13,120,003 8,415,298
Total Restricted: 19,078,238 23,131,352

Unrestricted 44,344,133 40,700,784
TOTAL NET POSITION 377,752,556 352,680,775

GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT
REVENUES AND EXPENSES TREND GRAPHS

Note: The historical spike in June operating expenses is largely attributable to year-end adjustments,
 Pension Expense being the most significant item.

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

$4.5

$5.0

$5.5

$6.0

$6.5

$7.0

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

M
ill
io
ns

FY Historical Operating Revenues
(by Month by Year)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

$0.0
$0.5
$1.0
$1.5
$2.0
$2.5
$3.0
$3.5
$4.0
$4.5
$5.0
$5.5
$6.0
$6.5
$7.0

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

M
ill
io
ns

FY Historical Operating Expenses
(by Month by Year)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



September 30, 2023 September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Actual Budget Actual-Budget % Change Prior YTD

 Landing Fees 1,014,833 941,399 73,434 7.8 % 697,252
 Aircraft Parking Fees 151,726 137,481 14,245 10.4 % 114,021

Subtotal Landing Area 1,166,559 1,078,880 87,678 8.1 % 811,272

Space and Ground Rentals 3,880,276 3,687,867 192,409 5.2 % 3,488,220 (a)
Auto Parking 5,460,597 4,629,671 830,926 17.9 % 4,138,393 (b)
Commercial Ground Transportation 223,098 94,382 128,716 136.4 % 116,407 (c)

 Advertising 110,275 139,545 (29,270) (21.0) % 154,430
 Food & Beverage 74,592 71,524 3,068 4.3 % 87,160
 Rental Car 1,230,044 997,538 232,507 23.3 % 1,186,117 (d)
 Retail 175,181 122,715 52,466 42.8 % 144,166
 Retail - Automated 29,209 32,980 (3,771) (11.4) % 20,512

Subtotal Concessions 1,619,301 1,364,302 254,999 18.7 % 1,592,384

Expense Reimbursements 563,314 471,629 91,685 19.4 % 573,259 (e)
Other Income 82,601 44,338 38,263 86.3 % 69,630
Other-Aviation Services 1,419,163 1,608,734 (189,571) (11.8) % 1,218,404 (f)
Gross Profit on Fuel Sales 1,595,957 1,526,764 69,193 4.5 % 1,340,489
Gross Profit on Restaurant Sales 1,129,398 958,511 170,887 17.8 % 752,462 (g)

 Total Operating Revenue 17,140,263 15,465,077 1,675,185 10.8 % 14,100,920

 Salaries & Benefits 6,280,309.22 6,345,305.79 (64,997) (1.0) % 5,783,833
 Professional Services 127,036.98 243,340.76 (116,304) (47.8) % 118,631 (h)
 Promotional Activities 197,416.65 208,064.89 (10,648) (5.1) % 102,415
 Administrative 637,693.54 731,112.60 (93,419) (12.8) % 844,336 (i)
 Insurance 278,833.14 278,958.46 (125.32)  (0.0) % 300,125
 Contractual Services 2,142,070.43 2,588,683.78 (446,613) (17.3) % 1,314,207 (j)
 Rentals and Leases 99,324.54 119,902.80 (20,578) (17.2) % 107,623
 Repairs and Maintenance 326,507.28 384,244.26 (57,737) (15.0) % 165,910
 Supplies and Equipment 466,171.38 770,108.07 (303,937) (39.5) % 520,721 (k)
 Utilities 597,728.77 614,920.45 (17,192) (2.8) % 623,828

 Total Operating Expenses 11,153,092 12,284,642 (1,131,550) (9.2) % 9,881,628

NET OPERATING INCOME 5,987,171 3,180,436 2,806,735 88.3 % 4,219,291

GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Concessions:

Operating Expenses

<------------------------FISCAL YEAR TO DATE------------------------>

Operating Revenue
Landing Area:



(aa) Investment In August, $21M was invested with a 3-year maturity ladder.  These funds were pulled primarily 
from CFC cash and other cash held for operating and capital expenses.

(bb) All noted accounts Beginning in the fiscal year ended 6/30/2022, GSP was required to adopt a new lease accounting
standard (GASB 87).  This standard requires the District to record lease assets and liabilities for
applicable long-term lease agreements.  Under the standard, the District also records interest
revenue and expenses associated with these regulated leases.  The overall impact to the 
income statement is that a portion of lease revenues and lease payments are reclassified as
interest and large offsetting assets and liabilities are reflected on the statement of net position.

(cc) Property, Plant & Equip (PP&E) Completion and capitalization of the surface parking project $20M, HWY 14 property
purchase $2.1 M, parking revenue equipment replacement $1.4M, campus signage 
program $1.1M, Aviation Parkway rehab $1M, among others.

(dd) Accounts Payable Consists of the following:
1,127,108    Retainage accrual required until the end of contract

10,029,446  Trade A/P, and year end accruals that will remain until year end
2,775,574  Year End Payroll, Vacation & Sick Benefits accrual that will remain until year end

478,923  Security Deposits
375,827  RAC True-up
980,462  Food & Beverage 

5,447  Other
15,772,787  

(a) Space & Ground Rentals Space & Ground Rentals favorable to budget due to the following:
- Airline Per Turn fees are favorable to budget as the budgeted revenue calculations utilized the prior

year per turn rates while the current year actuals reflect the approved budgeted per turn rates

(b) Auto Parking Auto Parking is favorable to budget due to the following:
- Public parking $817K favorable to budget due to more enplanements than projected

(c) Commercial Ground Transportation  - TNC (Uber/Lyft) activity trending higher than budget due to new contracts, requiring additional
fees

(d) Rental Car Rental Car is favorable to budget due to the following:
- AVIS, Enterprise, Hertz and National $236K favorable to budget

Actual YTD Budget YTD Diff
AVIS 229,737$    179,141$    50,596$   

Budget 172,374  174,368  (1,993)   
Enterprise 261,289  215,824  45,465  

Hertz 134,048  121,354  12,694  
National 432,596  305,526  127,070  

GA - 1,325 (1,325)   
TOTAL 1,230,044$   997,538$    232,507$    

(e) Expense Reimbursements Expense Reimbursements Income is favorable to budget due to the following:
- O&M Reimbursement $78K favorable to budget
-Security Reimbursement $27K favorable to budget

(f) Other-Aviation Services Other-Aviation Services is unfavorable to budget due to the following:
- Unmaterialized, budgeted cargo revenues

(g) Gross Profit on Restaurant Sales Restaurant Sales favorable to budget due to the following:
- Chick-fil-A and Thomas Creek is outperforming budgeted net sales while Thomas Creek

is slightly underperforming as compared to budget
Actual YTD Budget YTD Diff

Chick-fil-A 519,529$    388,819$    130,710$    
Wolfgang Puck 414,543    383,336  31,207   

RJ Rockers 69,685  48,315    21,370  
Thomas Creek 125,641  138,042  (12,401)  

TOTAL 1,129,398$   958,511$    170,887$    

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - CURRENT YTD ACTUAL FOOTNOTES

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



(h) Professional Services Professional Services is favorable to budget due to the following:
- Consulting fees $68K favorable to budget due to timing
- Audit $45K favorable to budget due to invoice timing

(i) Administrative Administrative is favorable to budget primarily due to timing:
- Administrative Budget Adjustment $52K
- Credit Card Processing $33K unfavorable to budget due to higher than expected parking revenue
- Dues & Subscriptions $29K favorable to budget
- Independent Contractor $29K favorable to budget due to lesser additional need for cargo operations
- Moving $24K not budgeted
- Travel/Training $128K favorable to budget
- Uniforms $37K favorable to budget

(j) Contractual Services Contractual Services is favorable to budget primarily due to timing:
- Computer-annual contracts $153K favorable to budget
- Fire Alarm $13K favorable to budget
- Heating & Air $12K favorable to budget
- Janitorial Services $75K favorable to budget
- The employee lot shuttle is included in the budget, began

operating late in September; $143K favorable to budget
- Service Agreements $25K favorable to budget

(k) Supplies & Equipment Supplies & Equipment is favorable to budget primarily due to timing:
- Computer-Equip/Supplies $93K favorable to budget
- Computer-Software $16K favorable to budget
- Equipment $21 favorable to budget
- Fuel-Vehicles $44K favorable to budget, true up done at year end
- Office Supplies $17K favorable to budget
- Painting $59K favorable to budget
- Paper $16K unfavorable to budget
- Tires $16K favorable to budget
- Tools & Hardware $26K favorable to budget
- ID Supplies $14K favorable to budget
- Lamps $15K favorable to budget

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

PROFIT & LOSS STATEMENT -YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Other Operating and Maintenance Reserve Funds

FY $ Amount Estimated 

Authorized Cost

Emergency Repair/Replacement/Operations Fund 500,000$    

Terminal HVAC - Trane 40,000$   
Terminal underground fuel storage tank decommissioning 35,000$   
RAC fire hydrants 20,000$   
Waterfall feature liner floating problem assessing

95,000$   

Uncommitted Balance 405,000$    

Business Development Obligations/Incentives 500,000$    

Avelo Air Service ~ 129,262$   

129,262$           

Uncommitted Balance 370,738$    

Contingency Fund (Operational & Capital) 1,000,000$          

Legal Services 25,000$   

IT Master Plan * 85,000$   

Title VI Initiative 18,361$   

TSA Lane 5 Project 200,000$   

328,361$           

Uncommitted Balance 671,639$    

Notes:

~

*
The IT Master plan is using $85,000 of Contingency Funds that was shown on last fiscal year's report; 

however, almost all payments to the vendor will be in this fiscal year.

Up to $250K was approved from Business Development Incentive Fund for Avelo marketing.  The 

amount shown on this page is what remains.  

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Cost Basis (1) Par Value (2) Fair Market Value (2)
Treasury Securities 55,263,652$    55,310,000$     53,391,178$    
Government Bonds 6,526,110$      6,500,000$       6,435,975$      

Total Investments 61,789,762$    61,810,000$     59,827,153$    
Money Market Funds 1,501,404$    1,501,404$     1,501,404$    
Total Investments + MMFs 63,291,166$    63,311,404$     61,328,556$    

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District maintains an investment portfolio comprised of debt securities, money market funds, and other securities as 
permitted by District policy and South Carlina law. All investments are held to maturity and purchased under advisement of TD Bank. The primary goal of 
the District's investment policy is the preservation of capital, while maximizing portfolio yield. The maturity of the investments is laddered to help ensure that 
funds are available for planned capital projects, debt service, and operational needs. Please contact Kristie Weatherly, Director of Finance, with any 
questions about the investment portfolio or strategy at kweatherly@gspairport.com or (864) 848-6274. 

GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT
Investment Holdings Summary

(1) The cost basis for the portfolio exceeds the Par Value due to the purchase of securities at a premium cost. This occurs when the stated yield on the 
security exceeds the market yield at the time of purchase.

(2) GSP anticipates that all investments will be held to maturity. Therefore, any difference between fair market value and par value for a given security will
decrease with time and GSP will realize the full PAR value of bonds as they mature. The fair market  value reflects  the amount that would be realized if 
GSP liquidated a security as of the report date.

 -

 2,000,000.00

 4,000,000.00

 6,000,000.00

 8,000,000.00

 10,000,000.00

 12,000,000.00

 14,000,000.00

 16,000,000.00

 18,000,000.00

0-3 3-6 6-9 9-12 12-18 18-24 24-30 30+

D
ol

la
rs

Months-to Maturity

Maturity Ladder for Non-cash Holding Par Values

0.00% 0.50% 1.00% 1.50% 2.00% 2.50% 3.00% 3.50% 4.00% 4.50%

0-3

3-6

6-9

9-12

12-18

18-24

24-30

30+

Blended Yield

M
on

th
s-

to
-M

at
ur

ity

Blended Yield by Maturity Range

$53,391,178 

$1,501,404 
$6,435,975 

Fair Market Value

U.S. Treasury Note Money Market Fund U.S. Government Bonds



Company name: Greenville–Spartanburg Airport District
Report name:
Created on: 10/25/2023

Project type Project name Vendor Name Date Amount
Capital Improvements FY2024 Correct Runway Guard Lights - MOS Cooper Crouse-Hinds Llc 9/30/2023 14,040.00

Carryforward

FY2024 Customer Experience/Advertising 
Program - New Ticket Counter Displays, FIDS, 
Baggage Claim Monitors, Cell Phone Lot 
(Terminal Flat Display Screen Replacement) Dell Marketing L.P. 9/13/2023 10,030.30

Carryforward

FY2024 Cargo Phase 2 Apron & Gateway Drive 
Extension - Construction Phase: Construction 
Administration Wk Dickson 9/30/2023 11,057.50

Carryforward
FY2024 Terminal Landside Roadway 
Improvements: RPR Aulick Engineering LLC 9/30/2023 14,975.22

Carryforward
FY2024 Terminal Landside Roadway 
Improvements: RPR LAZ KARP Associates LLC 9/27/2023 15,330.53

Carryforward
FY2024 GA Expansion Phase 2 - Design and 
Permitting: Design Wk Dickson 9/30/2023 17,975.00

Carryforward
FY2024 Parking Garage C - Preconstruction 
Services: Design LCK, LLC 9/30/2023 21,767.50

Carryforward
FY2024 Terminal Landside Roadway 
Improvements: Construction Administration Kimley- Horn And Associates 9/30/2023 23,178.00

Carryforward
FY2024 Parking Garage C - Preconstruction 
Services: Design Ls3P Associates Ltd. 9/30/2023 41,450.31

Carryforward
FY2024 Cargo Phase 2 Apron & Gateway Drive 
Extension - Construction Phase: RPR Aulick Engineering LLC 9/30/2023 42,514.95

Carryforward

FY2024 Customer Experience/Advertising 
Program - New Ticket Counter Displays, FIDS, 
Baggage Claim Monitors, Cell Phone Lot 
(Terminal Flat Display Screen Replacement) Bluum of Minnesota, LLC 9/30/2023 43,105.70

Carryforward
FY2024 Cargo Phase 2 Apron & Gateway Drive 
Extension - Construction Phase S&Me, Inc 9/21/2023 44,820.50

Carryforward
FY2024 Parking Garage C - Preconstruction 
Services: Design Ls3P Associates Ltd. 9/30/2023 73,555.00

Carryforward FY2024 General Aviation Site 1a Paving Webber, LLC 9/30/2023 198,963.54
Carryforward FY2024 WH Ball Deck move and expansion Air Tech Innovations 9/21/2023 204,912.27

Carryforward
FY2024 Terminal Landside Roadway 
Improvements: Construction Turner Construction Company 9/25/2023 954,977.41

Carryforward
FY2024 Cargo Phase 2 Apron & Gateway Drive 
Extension - Construction Phase: Construction Webber, LLC 9/30/2023 2,159,449.78

Carryforward
FY2024 Cargo Phase 2 Apron & Gateway Drive 
Extension - Construction Phase: Construction Webber, LLC 9/30/2023 4,983,618.18

Renewal & Replacement
FY2024 Repair and Replace Kitchen Equipment 
for F&B locations Hubert Company 9/18/2023 10,530.41

Renewal & Replacement

FY2024 New Club Car Carryall 550 - Replace 
GM81 (Club Car) - GOV DEAL GM81 - Priority 
2A - 83 Carolina Golf Carts 9/30/2023 22,940.85

Renewal & Replacement
FY2024 New Club Car Carryall 550 - Retask 
GM82 (Club Car) to OPS - Priority 2C - 83 Carolina Golf Carts 9/30/2023 22,940.86

Renewal & Replacement

FY2024 New Kubota Tractor - Replace GM56 
(Kubota Tractor) - GOV DEAL GM56 - Priority 
2C - 83 Steen Enterprises, Inc. 9/27/2023 39,637.08

Sum Total 8,971,770.89

Procurement / Capital Acquisitions



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item C 

October 2023 – Development/Project Status Report 

SUMMARY 

2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project: 

Status – Revising Renovation Scope 
Project Budget – $1,675,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 

This project includes the renovation of the hangar located at 2102 GSP Drive adjacent 
to the FBO Terminal. Planned renovation scope includes interior finishes, restroom 
improvements, exterior paint, door hardware and integration to the GSP campus access 
control and CCTV systems. The original project budget was reduced by $2,000,000 at 
the November 23, 2020, Commission meeting. The start of this project was delayed 
until other projects could be finalized. Staff is revising the scope to advance this project. 

General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project: 

Status – Road and Utilities in Close Out; Apron in Close Out 
Project Budget - $4,700,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Infrastructure Substantially Complete; Apron Paving 
Substantially Complete 

The GA Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project includes certain infrastructure necessary for 
the development of the new hangar sites. Work includes taxi lane, apron, road, utilities, 
and other related site work. WK Dickson is the engineer of record for this project. The 
utility, roadway and retaining wall work for the project was competed amongst the IDIQ 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
November 13, 2023 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 2 

contractor pool and Mavin Construction was selected for this work. Mavin is 
substantially complete with the infrastructure scope of work. 

The apron portion of the work was bid. Construction budget was amended at the 
January 2023 Commission meeting. Webber, LLC is the contractor for the apron paving 
work. Concrete paving is substantially complete. Contractor is working on project close 
out.  

Campus Signage Replacement Program - Phase II: 

Status – Close Out Phase (campus signage); Design Phase (entry signage) 
Project Budget - $750,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Campus Wayfinding Signage is Complete; I-85 Entry 
Signage - Spring 2024 

This project included the completion of the remaining campus signage and wayfinding. 
The project also includes the design and construction of an entry monument sign on 
Aviation Parkway based on the Signage Masterplan. McMillan Pazdan Smith is assisting 
with final construction documents for the I-85 entry monument sign and Mavin 
Construction is leading the construction of the sign. The campus directional and 
wayfinding signage is complete. The new I-85 entry sign is expected to be completed 
next spring. 

Terminal Roadway Improvements Program (TRIP): 

Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget - $18,600,000 
Estimated Completion Date – December 2024 

TRIP includes the design and construction of the initial roadway improvements in the 
Terminal Complex per the Airport Masterplan and Terminal Planning Study. Components 
include front curb reconfiguration to 4 inside lanes and 2 outside lanes, traffic 
circulation improvements on GSP Drive and Terminal Parkway with terminal curb front 
traffic ultimately routed to the north of the future Garage C site and 2 new roundabouts 
on GSP Drive for improved traffic flow per the GSP Master Plan. Kimley Horn is the 
designer / engineer of record for the project. Turner is the construction manager for 
this project. Turner is currently working on phase 1 of the project. The project is 
currently approximately 2-3 months behind schedule. Sub-phase 1A was partially turned 
over and work is underway on Phase 1B and IC. 1B is expected to be completed in 
November. Phase 2 is expected to start in December. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
November 13, 2023 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 3 

FBO Expansion Project: 

Status – Procurement Phase 
Project Budget – $14,300,000 (Procurement Phase) 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 

Design is complete and was led by McMillan Pazdan Smith. Project budget was adjusted 
in the FY24 capital budget. The RFQ/RFP process is currently underway for CMR 
selection. Construction is expected to start in early 2024. 

Cargo Ramp Phase 2: 

Status – Close Out Phase 
Project Budget – $16,500,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Substantially Complete 

This project includes construction of the Phase 2 Cargo Apron at the Center Cargo 
Facility. The new apron will double the cargo apron capacity at Cerulean to 
accommodate up to 6 wide body freighters on the ramp. WK Dickson is the prime 
engineer for the project. The project is partially funded with an EDA grant. The 
construction budget was amended based on bids at the January 2023 Commission 
meeting. Webber, LLC is the contractor for the project. Construction is substantially 
complete, and the contractor is working on close out items. 

Runway Guard Lights (RGL) Modification Project: 

Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget – $175,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 

This project involves installing new electrical cabling and separating an existing circuit 
for the runway guard lights (RGL). Kimley-Horn is leading the engineering effort. The 
project was bid, and a contract was awarded to Southeast Site Services. The project will 
start after January 2024 and is expected to take approximately 90 days.  



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
November 13, 2023 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 4 

Parking Garage C & CONRAC Facility: 

Status – GMP / Procurement Phase 
Project Budget – $114,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Summer 2026 

This project includes the design and construction of a new combined public parking and 
rental car ready/return garage. The design was led by LS3P. LCK is providing program 
management and support services for the project. Brasfield & Gorrie (B&G) has been 
selected as the Construction Manager for the project. B&G will be preparing a GMP this 
fall. Construction start is expected to start in spring 2024 and be completed by summer 
2026. 

Facilities Department Building Expansion Project (Design Phase): 

Status – Design Phase 
Project Budget – $500,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 

Planning for the Facilities Department Building Expansion Project was completed in 
FY20, but the Phase 1 Project was put on hold due to COVID-19. This initial project is of 
a master development plan for the Facilities Department includes an expansion of the 
existing shop and storage building to provide 2 new large equipment maintenance bays, 
the addition of a new drive-in service bay door to the existing building, relocation of 
incinerator equipment and relocation / installation of a new triturator system. This 
project will provide much needed maintenance space for large equipment such as fuel 
trucks, fire equipment and other large vehicles as well as prepare the facility for the 
additional future expansion projects. Design is being led by on-call engineer WK 
Dickson and DP3 as their architectural partner. Design will be completed in spring 2024. 
Construction will be budgeted in the FY25 budget. 

Utility Improvements Project Phases 1 & 2: 

Status – Construction and Design Phases Underway 
Project Budget – $2,200,000 (FY23 and FY24 budgets combined) 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 

A Utility Master Plan was completed in FY22 outlining several improvements projects 
necessary to replace aging infrastructure on the GSP campus and prepare the airport 
for future expansion and development. The highest priority of the improvements 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
November 13, 2023 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 5 

includes waterline upgrades from Hwy 14 to the Terminal Complex. Replacement of a 
section of waterline along GSP Drive within the TRIP project limits is being addressed as 
part of that project while the road and adjacent area is already being impacted. Design 
is also underway for waterline improvements from CPW at Highway 14 down GSP Drive. 
Once construction documents are complete, the project work will be bid, and work 
scheduled for spring 2024. 

Landscape Lighting Project: 

Status – Design Phase  
Project Budget – $350,000 
Estimated Completion Date –TBD 

This project includes improvements to the landscape lighting along Aviation Parkway to 
the Terminal Complex and Terminal Parkway to the P1 and P2 Economy Parking Lots. 
Design phase work is being led by WK Dickson with Seamon Whiteside as their 
landscape architecture sub consultant. Staff is currently reviewing recommendations for 
lighting. Construction will be planned for spring 2024 completion. 

GA Expansion Area Phase 2 Site Prep: 

Status – Design Phase  
Project Budget – $11,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Design Fall 2023; Construction TBD 

This project includes site prep and grading to prepare the development area planned 
for General Aviation Complex expansion. WK Dickson is leading the engineering effort 
and plans will be submitted for permitting later this fall. Permitting is expected to take 
several months and construction may be able to start in spring 2024 and carry into 
FY25.  



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Tom Tyra, VP, Chief Marketing & Communications Officer 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item D 
October 2023 – Communications Status Report 

SUMMARY 

News Stories ~ Broadcast, Print and Online 10/1/23 through 10/31/23:  

Top Stories for October 2023 
Southwest Adds New Route to Denver  
GSP Enters New Construction Phase 
Greenville Leaders Speak Out on Their Visions for the Area’s Future 
GSP Welcomes Home Capt. Fred Hall 
GSP Restaurant Best Grab-and-Go 

Click here for full report of October 2023 media mentions. 

Reach of GSP Media Coverage: 52,396,610 

Airport Digital and Social Media 10/1/23-10/31/23: 

Website 
Sessions – 108,034 

New Users –74,976 
Page Views –584,665 

Facebook  
Total followers –16,543 
New followers –42 
Page Views –4,457 
Reach —378,623 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
October 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 2 

Instagram 
Total Reach –4,655 
Total Impressions –8,721 
Followers –4,125 
New followers –59 

Twitter 
Impressions – 3,847 
Followers –6,776 
New followers – 18 
Mentions –17 

Top Performing Social Media Posts 

Top Twitter Post 

Top Instagram Post 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
October 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 3 

Top Facebook Post: 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
October 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 4 

Marketing Event Summary 

Greenville Swamp Rabbits Hockey 
Status – On-Going 
Communications Budget – $10,000 
Completion Date – 2023-2024 Hockey Season 

GSP will host promotions with the Greenville Swamp Rabbits during the 2023-24 season 
at the Bon Secours Wellness Arena. The sponsorship includes season-long exposure 
through signage, social media exposure and intermission promotions. 

Greenville Triumph Soccer 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget – $25,000 
Completion Date – March 1- November 1, 2023 

GSP will host promotions with the Greenville Triumph at Furman’s Palladin Stadium 
during the 2023 season. The sponsorship includes season-long exposure through 
signage, a special GSP Family Zone seating area, ticket promotions, social media 
exposure and on-field promotions. 

Greer Arts and Eats Festival 2023 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget - $3,000 
Completion Date – October 7, 2023 

Communications staff will host a display at this annual festival in Greer, SC.  We will 
promote new air service and amenities available at GSP. 

Fall for Greenville 2023 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget - $7,500 
Completion Date – October 13-15, 2023 

Communications staff will host a display at this annual festival in Greenville, SC.  We will 
promote new air service and amenities available at GSP. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
October 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 5 

Air Service Event Summary 

Global Upstate Conference 2023 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget - $1,500 
Completion Date – October 3-4, 2023 

Upstate International is hosting a global trade conference in Greer, SC.  GSP will 
participate as a sponsor and take advantage of speaking opportunities at this high-
profile conference.   

South Carolina Manufacturing Conference (Air Cargo) 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget - $2,500 
Completion Date – October 4-6, 2023 

Air Service staff will attend SC Manufacturing Conference in Charleston, SC from 
October 4-6, 2023.  GSP will have discussions with current and prospective air cargo 
clients from the manufacturing sector. 

South Carolina International Trade Conference 2023 
Status – Completed 
Communications Budget - $2,000 
Completion Date – October 16-18, 2023 

Communications staff will attend this annual conference in Charleston, SC.  This 
gathering of shippers, importers, exporters and manufacturers has been useful in 
supporting business at our Cerulean Commercial Aviation division. 

Air Cargo Americas 2023 
Status – Scheduled 
Communications Budget - $6,000 
Completion Date – October 31 – November 2, 2023 

Air Cargo Americas held in Miami, FL, will attract air cargo airlines and suppliers from 
across North America. Attendees will conduct business meetings in pursuit of new air 
cargo business at GSP. Members of our Aviation Services and marketing teams will 
attend the conference. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
October 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 6 

ACI Marketing & Communications Conference 2023 
Status – Registered to attend. 
Communications Budget - $3,000 
Completion Date – November 12-14, 2023 

Communications staff will attend this industry conference that has a focus on 
communications, public relations, and customer service disciplines.  This conference will 
be held in Atlanta, GA. 

European-American Chamber of Commerce- Logistics Focus 2023 
Status – Hosting at GSP. 
Communications Budget - $1,000 
Completion Date – November 30, 2023 

Communications staff will host this influential group to highlight the airport’s important 
role in logistics and export trade.  

Annual Kids Holiday Event in partnership with the Salvation Army Boys & 
Girls Club 
Status – Scheduled 
Communications Budget - $2,000 
Completion Date – December 19, 2023 

GSP will continue its long-standing tradition with our annual community outreach event 
in partnership with the Salvation Army Boys and Girls Club. GSP departments and 
tenants will sponsor up to 25 kids who will be invited to the airport for a holiday 
celebration and pizza party with presents and a special visit from Santa.  



©	2023	Critical	MentionPage	1	of	5

https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/section/1398228
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/section/1398227
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/section/1398199
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/section/1398191
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/section/1398190
https://www.wspa.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52167538578&p=5fi&v=1&x=0Wq36a_3EHoBqGMNGeOS0w
https://www.onespartanburginc.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52167865807&p=5fi&v=1&x=c6nWfW4Bkvb87LoN_m7_Zw


©	2023	Critical	MentionPage	2	of	5

✈

https://www.wyff4.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52168428794&p=5fi&v=1&x=4PTGILV6v6_NizkZVsh8IQ
https://upstatebusinessjournal.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52168460657&p=5fi&v=1&x=bNNWs9-MGnhztLol-V89gw
https://www.wyff4.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52140826688&p=5fi&v=1&x=7YJTnFPRkhaO7xo_KZlU6w


©	2023	Critical	MentionPage	3	of	5

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCZII2-pYouhc81JtJ9zShEw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dwf66k8L5s0
https://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=51977783508&p=5fi&v=1&x=7I8K_wWRFideTVLJD2gIow
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=51976080711&p=5fi&v=1&x=JJ2VZZ4eWIDClU34iV74tg


©	2023	Critical	MentionPage	4	of	5

https://smokymountainnews.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/clip/4aaf79cf-7944-4ca4-90e8-1f71242f39eb/play
https://www.wspa.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52011988685&p=5fi&v=1&x=Pw7eObj7QgsxecoXFitk5g
https://edition.cnn.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/7d85fb09-9e9a-4d01-bdbc-c293fb1a1a20?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/


©	2023	Critical	MentionPage	5	of	5

http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/837d7c04-9494-4d95-94f1-5576d1ffc3a2/clip/88444f82-ff29-4c60-9907-c605168da6cf/play
https://www.criticalmention.com/


2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Members of the Airport Commission  

Deven Judd, VP, Chief Commercial Officer 

November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item E 

October 2023 – Commercial Business Report 

SB Acquisitions – Tract A Development Site: 

Status – The overall list of deficiencies for which additional budget is needed has been 
captured, compiled, and presented to BMW management for additional funding allocation.  
BMW is working with the electrical contractor to correct deficiencies. BMW has changed 
Project Managers which requires the District to meet with him to bring him up to speed on 
the Districts issues and position to ensure that he gets the work completed in a timely 
manner moving forward. 
Project Budget – All development costs are being covered by SB Acquisitions. 
Estimated Completion Date – Pushed to December 2023 

BMW is actively working on the final construction punch list items identified in the joint 
inspection/walkthrough of the facilities. GSP and BMW touch base weekly to get the 
status update/report for the remaining items.  Several of those items include providing 
as-built drawings of the facility, correcting the grading to ensure proper water runoff for 
the property and correcting the orientation of the light poles. 

Palmetto Sites Program: 

Status – The Commercial Business Team has issued a notice to proceed to OnPoint 
Abstractors, LLC and Thomas & Hutton to begin title work and survey and  
Project Budget – $100,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Survey and Title work for Tract A is completed by 
December 2023; Tract A Certified 1st Quarter 2024. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2023 – Commercial Business Report 
Page 2 

The SC Department of Commerce has an industrial site readiness program entitled the 
Palmetto Sites Program to designate property in the state of South Carolina that has been 
determined to be “checked for readiness” from a development perspective.  This helps 
market the property by having it listed in a statewide database and providing developers 
with a sense of comfort in knowing that the initial site evaluation work has already been 
completed.   

Land Development Design Standards Manual Project: 

Status – Scope of work for Land Development Design Standards Manual has been signed 
and notice to proceed was given.  
Project Budget – $125,000 
Estimated Completion Date – 1st Quarter 2024 

The Airport District has 2,500 acres of land within the GSP360 Beyond the Runway land 
development program.  The design standards manual will provide a guide for developers 
to use as they plan and develop construction documents for future development sites on 
Airport District property.  In addition, it will address tenant improvement projects once 
facilities are completed. 

FedEx Cargo Facility Agreement: 

Status – FedEx has provided redline comments to the agreement. Staff is currently 
reviewing the document.  FedEx has agreed to the financial structure of the lease.  
Project Budget – TBD 
Estimated Completion Date – Execute Lease is 4th Quarter 2023 

Pursuant to District policy, this lease will be a triple-net lease. Next steps to include 
completion of negotiations. 

Children’s Play Area: 

Status – Staff has met with Plus-Plus USA to discuss building an indoor children's play 
area in a post security location to cater to parents/guardians of children traveling through 
the airport. Staff has selected an empty space downstairs from Concourse A and next to 
the exit corridor. Plus-Plus USA has partnered with the Children’s Museum of the Upstate. 
Project Budget – $15,000 
Estimated Completion Date – June 2024 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2023 – Commercial Business Report 
Page 3 

There are a number of airports in the U.S. with children play areas and even more with 
entertainment options for young travelers. Airports with play areas tend to rank higher in 
customer service rankings because they are perceived to offer activities to help children 
stay engaged and occupied while traveling.  Additionally, this will give children and 
families the opportunity to create lifelong memories traveling through GSP. 

Re-Brand Thomas Creek Restaurant to Greenville Triumph Soccer Club Theme: 

Status – The Greenville Triumph has provided the design and plans for the new signage. 
Staff is reviewing the design.  
Project Budget – All costs to be incurred by the Greenville Triumph Soccer Club 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 

Branding airport restaurants with local themes creates a uniqueness to the concession 
program as well as a sense of pride in the community that reflects positively on the 
airport. For out-of-market travelers, branded restaurants provide a sense of place and 
create cross marketing opportunities for both the District and the Greenville Triumph. The 
restaurant will continue to serve Thomas Creek beer and drinks.  



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Kelly Dawsey, VP, Chief Human Resources Officer

DATE: November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item F 

October 2023 – OSHA Recordable Injury Report 

SUMMARY 

Monthly Activity October 31, 2023 

• 0 OSHA Recordable Injuries

2023 Calendar Year-to-Date 

• 3 OSHA Recordable Injuries

2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Recordable Submissions: 

Calendar 
Year 

Annual 
Average # 
Employees 

Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 
Injuries 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 

Illnesses 

# Days 
away 
from 
Work 

2022 213 382,757 9 1 46 
2021 206 378,484 12 2 53 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Zach Salvato, VP, Chief Information Officer 

DATE: November 13, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item G 

October 2023 – Information Technology Status Report 

SUMMARY 

IT Master Plan 

Status – Future State Assessment  
Project Budget - $160,000  
Estimated Completion Date – March 2024 

The overall objective of this project is to develop and articulate a strategic plan around 
emerging technology that is specific to the airport industry and enhances the curb-to-
gate passenger experience.  

Phase Three Continued – Future State Definition 

The objective of the Future State Definition phase is to establish the upcoming state of 
IT at GSP. This will be achieved through interviews and input from District stakeholders. 
The main focus will be on harmonizing business and operational objectives, recognizing 
IT implications within the District's business context, and outlining the scope of the 
future IT strategy. Additionally, this phase involves crafting the IT vision, mission 
statement, and guiding principles, identifying IT goals in alignment with business 
objectives, and assessing the potential future IT maturity and capabilities of the 
District's IT organization. 

Key tasks in this phase encompass hosting Vision & Mission Workshops/Interviews, 
performing Industry Benchmarking to gauge upcoming industry trends, crafting the 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
October 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 2 

Future State Definition, and finally generating the Future State Definition Report for 
subsequent review and approval. 

Activities Performed: 

IT Maturity Model Assessment. 
An IT Maturity Model Assessment is a structured evaluation of an organization's 
information technology (IT) capabilities, practices, and processes to determine its level 
of maturity in managing and leveraging IT for business purposes. The assessment 
typically follows a maturity model framework (e.g., like the Capability Maturity Model 
Integration - CMMI), and it helps identify areas for improvement and chart a path 
toward increased maturity. 

Future State Passenger Experience Survey was sent out to Greenville, Spartanburg, and 
Greer chamber members to receive input from the community. 
GSP - Future State of Passenger Experience (surveysparrow.com) 

https://thejwg.surveysparrow.com/s/GSP---Future-State-of-Passenger-Experience/tt-i4hgnvGK7HykmAeQUugZfN


2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
October 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 3 

Phase Four Started – Gap Analysis Workshop 

New Backup and Recovery Solution 

Status – Implementation  
Project Budget - $150,000  
Estimated Completion Date – December 2023 

I am excited to announce the implementation of our new backup and recovery solution, 
powered by Cohesity. This comprehensive system comprises a primary and secondary 
on-premises solution, coupled with a cloud backup component. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
October 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 4 

Key Features: 
• Primary Backup: The primary on-premises solution provides real-time data

protection and fast recovery, ensuring minimal downtime in case of data loss or
system failure.

• Secondary Backup: Our secondary on-premises system acts as a redundant
backup, safeguarding against any unexpected disruptions in the primary
environment.

• Cloud Backup: To bolster our data resiliency, we have integrated a cloud
backup solution that securely stores our critical data offsite, offering additional
protection against unforeseen events.

Benefits: 
• Enhanced data protection and security
• Improved recovery times
• Seamless scalability to accommodate our growing needs
• Cost-effective cloud storage options

The new backup and recovery solution is a significant step forward in safeguarding our 
data and ensuring business continuity. It reflects our commitment to maintaining the 
highest levels of data integrity and availability. 


	Cover Letter - November 2023
	Agenda
	Consent Agenda Item A - GSP Commission Meeting Minutes
	Consent Agenda Item B - Acceptance of the GSP Audit Committee Minutes 
	NB Item A - Approval of Rental Car Customer Facility Charge Increase 
	NB Item B - Approval of a Budget Amendment for Purchase of 2125 Airport Rd 
	NB Item C - Approval of Lease Terms-Agreement for FedEx Lease 
	NB Item D - Approval of Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services 
	Info Section A - September 2023 - Traffic Report BINDER
	Info Section A - September 2023 - Traffic Report Memo 
	Info Section A - September 2023 - Traffic Report

	Info Section B - September 2023 - Financial Report BINDER
	Info Section B - September 2023 - Financial Report Memo
	Info Section B - September Financial Statement Package 

	Info Section C - October 2023 - Development Project Report 
	Info Section D   October  2023 - Communications Report 
	Info Section D - October 2023 - Communications Media Mentions
	Info Section E - October 2023 - Commercial Business Report 
	Info Section F - October 2023 - OSHA Recordable Injury Report
	Info Section G - October 2023 - IT Status Report 



